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BERMUDA
PROLOGUE

‘Where the remote Bermudas ride
In the ocean's bosom unespied’

Bill Hudson put his car in the parking lot reserved for airline staff. The weather was overcast, a ceiling of 2,500 ft., with a 25 mph westerly wind. He collected his uniform jacket, hat and navigation bag from the back of the car and walked towards the buildings. He moved slowly trying to keep cool with the temperature of 90°F and a humidity of 95%. In all his years flying for Leeward Island Air Transport in Antigua and now West Atlantic Airways, based locally in St. Antony, he had never known weather quite like it. Luckily, hurricane Angela had missed the island to the West by about 100 miles so that the southerly winds had only been up to 50 mph but that was quite enough to cause extensive damage to some of the poorer housing in Cape Harbour. The hurricane in May was incredibly early and, amazingly, it had been category 3 on the Saffir-Simpson scale with winds of 120 miles an hour. The global weather really did seem to be changing but Bill was not convinced it was entirely due to the world’s population.
Though Angela had gone by two days before, the weather still had not returned to the dream climate of the Leeward Islands, sun and clear skies. Before leaving his home overlooking the sea near Farways, Bill had looked at the Weather Channel on the piped cable TV. Thank goodness the hurricane had reduced in intensity and was now down to category 1 and forecast to become a tropical storm. It had been tracking North East in the last thirty six hours so that the centre was now about 120 miles east of Bermuda, which was just as well since Marion, the operations girl, had called him unexpectedly this morning and asked him to take a load of freight to Bermuda. He wasn’t too pleased since it was his twentieth wedding anniversary and he had planned to take Jane to Full Moon Bay as a surprise. He hadn’t even been on stand-by but Marion had told him that apparently Jimmy Morrison, the billionaire boss of the Paragon Corporation, had specially asked for him. She said that it was going to be a very lucrative charter so he couldn’t very well refuse, since he knew how important it was for all of them to keep the airline profitable. Why Jimmy wanted him he couldn’t imagine. He had only met him once and he certainly didn’t want to repeat the experience.

He entered the complex of single story airline offices next to the control tower and decided to go straight into the met office before going into West Atlantic Airways operations room. As he entered the room he was surprised to see Jim French looking at the weather charts.

“What are you doing here? I thought you were on holiday in the States.”

“I should have been but because of Angela and the weather the other day my flight was cancelled and I decided to postpone the whole trip. I’m your first officer to Bermuda this evening.”

Jim was a relatively new pilot with West Atlantic Airlines. He had lived in St. Antony for some time and previously worked for the flying operations division of the Paragon Corporation which was based in St. Antony. When Jim heard there was a vacancy for a pilot in WAA he had applied straightaway and not surprisingly the chief pilot, Ron Gibbons, had hired him. Jim was a very experienced pilot but apparently had got fed up with the unsociable hours of Paragon. Airline Training in Miami had given him very high marks on their European Aerospace 412 aircraft training course and Bill found him an excellent First Officer. He’d be a very good captain the moment there was a vacancy.

“Great. What’s the weather like?”

“Well we’ve got the landing forecasts, the upper winds and the synoptic charts and it all looks good, but I think it’s disgraceful the way they've closed the met office here and made us rely on these faxed charts. I know we can ring the forecasters in Barbados or Miami but it’s not the same thing.”
Jim took another look at the charts.

“Luckily Angela seems to be tracking North East and is expected to be about 125 nautical miles East of Bermuda by the time we land at 0100Z, 9 o’clock local time to-night. However, it’s still a Force One hurricane so it’s just as well that it’s way off our track. They’re forecasting a northerly wind of 30 knots for landing at Bermuda so we should be alright on Runway Three Zero. The weather will be overcast, a ceiling of 20,000 ft, no rain, a visibility of 10 miles and some upper cirrus. There shouldn’t be much of a problem.”

“Have you spoken to the forecaster, Jim?”

“No, not yet. I was waiting for you.”

“Well, why don’t you do that and I’ll go in to operations.”

Bill picked up his bag and left the office, nodding to Simon the clerk as he went out. The clerk was a local and Bill tried hard not to notice that there was still a resentment by the locals of the expatriates who came in to St. Antony and took most of the highly paid jobs. Of course there were notable exceptions, like Lionel Brown the airport manager, who did a really first class job.

Marion was behind the desk, waiting for him. She was definitely not a local. She was married to Harry Collier, manager of the new Thomson Hotel near Hughes Point. They had two children and the older one, Luke, helped Harry in the hotel. However, Bill knew Marion disliked being on call twenty four hours a day at the mercy of every guest and preferred to work a roster with WAA. True she had to work nights occasionally but in return she got lots of days off to keep an eye on Sonia during the school holidays. She didn’t like sending her daughter away to boarding school in England but there was nothing suitable on the island. Luckily Thomson paid the fees, not that the firm had much alternative if they were going to attract good managers.

“What’s the panic to deliver the freight to Bermuda? Aren’t these the paintings that have been sitting around in the air conditioned customs shed for five months?”

“Yes, Bill, that’s the main freight but there are some other heavy crates to go. It does seem odd. However, if you’re as rich as Jimmy Morrison I suppose you can do what you like. Frank told me that he quoted three times the normal price for the trip, because the plane would have to come back empty and Greg Fairclough agreed without a demur, though apparently he did ask for you and Jim French.”

“I thought as a matter of principle we didn’t like our charterers specifying who is going to fly the aircraft?”

“You’re right, but in view of the price we got it was difficult to refuse Greg. He knows Jim well of course, and Jimmy apparently asked for you.”

Bill thought for a moment.

“Why aren’t Paragon flying the paintings up themselves? The crates aren’t that big are they?”

“Well actually one or two of them are quite large. You know the crates are significantly larger than the paintings themselves and, of course, the paintings are in Jimmy’s original frames so they can’t get the larger ones through the doors of either their Gulfstream 3s or their 4. Anyway, even if they could the insurers, Westfield Insurance, have said the paintings must be transported by an airline with a proper Airline Operators Certificate. Greg said he tried hard to persuade Westfield that Paragon could do it but they wouldn’t listen to him.”

Greg Fairclough was the Chief Pilot of the Paragon Corporation and ran the Corporation’s flight operations setup which was head-quartered in St. Antony. The Corporation was truly international with its head office in New York and offices all over the world. It was particularly strong in South America and so having the flight operations based in St. Antony was quite convenient, especially for Jimmy Morrison who had homes in Bermuda and Florida. The gossip was that Greg and Jimmy were pretty close and Jimmy seemed to leave the whole of the flight operation scheduling to Greg which, by all accounts, didn’t always please the high powered executive passengers. Bill had met Greg but even though the island was small, particularly for expatriates, their paths didn’t cross socially. 
Marion was continuing to apologise for the short notice of the flight.

“Apparently there’s been a very long legal case going on in New York contesting whether Jimmy Morrison really owns some of the paintings but, unexpectedly, the case has just been settled in Jimmy’s favour. Customs will be pleased to see the paintings go since they’re fed up with the insurer’s guards hanging around outside the customs sheds. The guards aren’t allowed into the sheds of course, but they’ve been sitting outside watching that the crates don’t leave the building. They’ve got a security bleep on each piece of freight containing a painting, like valuable goods in a store, so that if anybody did take a painting out of the customs shed the guards would hear the bleeps.”

Bill’s high opinion of Frank Westbourne was confirmed by the story of the charter. Frank always did good deals and that was why West Atlantic Airways was doing so well. True they had lost one of their European Aerospace 412s a few months ago trying to come in visually from the South in a large thunderstorm. They had hit Crazy Peak. Fifty feet higher and they would have got away with it. Luckily the insurance company paid out, but they hadn’t liked doing so since they said that the crew training was inadequate. Bill had some sympathy with the insurers, Hull Claims Insurance, though he would never say so out loud, since he thought Ron Gibbons, WAA’s chief pilot, should never have made Malcolm Lazarus an airline captain. Airline Training had given him the lowest pass mark possible at the end of the Course. Bill suspected that local politics had played a part. Why the hell Malcolm hadn’t waited for the storm to pass or landed at St. Kitts no-one would ever know. Forty passengers and four crew killed for nothing.

“Marion, what aircraft are we using?”

“We’re using one of the European 412s, VP-WAL.” She looked at him apprehensively. “But Bill, there’s a problem with the fuel. The ground crew have put full fuel in the airplane.”

“That’s crazy, Marion. Who gave the instruction? I thought we’d stopped that happening. That must be the second time in a month.”

“I’ve no idea. I can’t get anyone to take responsibility. It’s not a regular flight so the proper procedures weren’t followed. They were told to fill it up with freight and someone filled it up with fuel. You remember last time it happened it was on a charter.”

“Somebody ought to be disciplined. Are they going to defuel it?”

“Apparently they can’t. They’ve got no empty tankers and maintenance want us to take it with full fuel. They know the aircraft is not fully loaded.”

“But can we take full fuel, Marion? How much does the freight weigh?”

“Well Bill, by my calculations you can just get away with it. You will be limited by the aircraft’s maximum structural take-off weight though you won’t be far off the single engine climb limit with the high temperatures here. What shall we do? If we wait until to-morrow there will be an empty refuelling truck.”

“Why are we carrying so much freight if we are just taking the ten paintings that I read about in the local press?”

“I’ve no idea but that’s what the customer wants and he’s paying us well.”

Bill thought about it. It really made no difference to him if they carried far too much fuel. They would actually use a bit more fuel on the trip to Bermuda because of the weight of the extra fuel that wasn’t needed but Jimmy Morrison had agreed to pay so much above the going rate for the job that they could afford it. He shrugged his shoulders.

“OK Marion. Leave the aircraft the way it is. At least we won’t have to refuel on the way home.” Bill hesitated for a moment. “I’m still a bit surprised that we are on the limit. The pictures can’t weigh very much. What’s in the other crates, gold bars?”

“Actually a lot of the extra freight is quite heavy though we have no idea what it is. As you say there are only ten masterpieces or whatever they are. By the way all the crates with the paintings in are marked with shockwatch and tiltwatch indicators to make certain that they are handled like eggs, so we are having to be very careful. It’s not made any easier by the people from the shipping agents and the two security guys watching every move and urging us to be as quick as possible so that the paintings don’t get damaged by the climate. My understanding from the shippers is that the paintings are actually protected from all reasonable variations in the climate and that even if a shower of rain comes along the paintings won't get damaged. However, the agents are very nervous and I can’t say I blame them.

“The rest of the freight is proving very awkward to load. We’ve removed most of the seats and are lashing the boxes down in the cabin. We’re only allowed to take one box out of the customs building at a time which slows things down but of course we’re air conditioning the aircraft on the ground with a truck. In spite of all the difficulties we should be able to get you away by 6.30, 2230 Zulu.”

Bill looked at his watch; it was 4.30 so they should be away in a couple of hours. He still felt uncomfortable about the cargo. For all he knew it might be dangerous material which was prohibited for carriage in aircraft.

“Marion, don’t you have to say on the cargo manifest what’s in the crates?”
“Yes and No. The cargo here is in transit so customs don’t insist on looking inside, particularly as they get well paid for providing the storage. We’re relying on the information from Morrison’s shipping agent here in St. Antony. The documents say it’s machinery and paintings. What happens in Bermuda is between Morrison and the Bermudan customs but I bet he’s made sure that there won’t be much duty to be paid.”

“But how do we know we’re permitted to carry the freight by air? We don’t want a repeat of that ValueJet flight out of Miami some years ago when the oxygen cylinders caught fire.”

“We just have to believe the shipping agent that it is machinery. I suppose we could insist on an inspection, if you like.”

Bill thought about that for a moment. He really should insist on opening the crates. Then he had an idea.

“How did the heavy crates arrive? By ship or by air?”

Marion shook her head, looked in her directory, dialled and took up the phone. Bill heard her talking about the freight, presumably to the shipping agents. It took a long time, as many things did in the Caribbean. She turned to Bill as she finished the conversation.

“Apparently they were flown in from the States in a Lockheed C130 transport.”

“Civil registered?”

“I don’t know. Do you want me to find out?”

Bill felt a bit happier. At least the freight had come by air and it was most unlikely that a military C130 would have had freight for Paragon. 

“No, don’t bother. I give in. I suppose it’ll be OK.”

He could feel Marion still eyeing him nervously. She obviously had another problem for him.

“By the way there’s no cabin attendant on the flight if that’s alright with you. You’ve only got freight plus the two guards so Jim will have to shut the doors. I’ve booked the two of you in at Rock Cove. We get a good rate at this time of year and it’s reasonably close to the airport.”

“Not that place again. It may be great for golfers but as a night stop it’s rubbish. To coin a phrase, Marion, all the staff are full of bullshit and have their hands out for tips all the time.”

Marion grinned. “How you people suffer. You should be grateful I didn’t put you up in the Bayview downtown. By the way, I’m not sure of your schedule to-morrow yet. We may just ask you to come back empty but we’ll look around for a load of freight. You can’t very well bring passengers as most of the seats will be here in the hangar.”

Bill looked at the clock. They still had an hour and a half to go before the expected time of departure. Marion passed him the flight plan to look at. She had already put full fuel in the plan. He checked the weights, signed the plan and gave it back to her to file. She really was a superb dispatcher. She called the flight plan up again on her computer, sent it straight out from the machine to San Juan and New York Oceanic centers and to Bermuda. The computer also wrote a disk which she gave to Bill so that he could load the flight plan and forecast winds straight into his Flight Management Computers when he got to the aircraft. He put the disk in the special compartment of his nav bag and then looked out of the operations room window. The ground crew were working on the aircraft. He could see Chuck Curtis out there.

“Marion, what’s Chuck doing out at the aircraft? Was there a problem?”

“Yes, Bill. Jim had difficulty with the VHF radio on the company frequency and he snagged it in the tech log.”

There was a truck going out to the aircraft presumably with another crate. The truck was being followed by a car. At the aircraft the truck backed up to the front freight door and two men got out of the car. He guessed they must be the security guards. Jim came in from the met briefing room.

“I’ve spoken to both the forecaster in Barbados and the one in Miami. They’re saying the same as the charts; the forecasts say that the en route weather will be no problem and also at Bermuda, with Angela well over 100 miles to the east. The upper winds will be westerly at about seventy knots. I assume we will be flying at 35,000 ft.?”

“That’s fine Jim. I suggest we go out when they finish loading. You’ll have to close the cabin doors as we’re not taking a cabin attendant. We've got the two security men sitting in the back. There's time for a coffee if you like. Let’s go over to the terminal.”

They put their uniform jackets and hats on and then threaded their way through the corridors, finally emerging into the new terminal. The place was quite busy as the regular daily flights from Europe had just arrived. They found a free table in the coffee shop and put their bags down before getting their drinks. Jim took out a newspaper from his nav bag and started reading.

“The gossip says that Jimmy Morrison has a new girl friend and she is staying in Bermuda. I can’t imagine the lovely Samantha will allow that.”

“You’re right. She’ll probably arrange for her to be deported for not having a United Kingdom passport.”

“But she may be a United States citizen, the papers only show her body, not her passport.”

“In that case she’ll be deported for not having a visa. Either way I bet Samantha will deal with Pussy Galore or whatever her name is. That lady is tough. Jimmy may be able to run a billion dollar corporation but he is no match for Samantha in marital matters.”

“Have you ever seen Jimmy’s house near Tucker’s Town? It’s said to be almost as big as Buckingham Palace.”

“In fact I have. I had to deliver a special letter to him in person last month from his St. Antony lawyer. I wasn’t sure I was allowed to do it as I suspect it is against the St. Antony Post Office rules but it didn’t seem worth arguing. Jimmy’s house is actually mock Georgian and very large but I regret to tell you it is probably only a quarter the size of Buck House.”

“What was Jimmy like?”

“Since you ask, I thought he was very rude and rather frightening. I had to penetrate a security gate at the main entrance with my car and then three security screens in the house to get to him in his study. He was quite short, thin and immaculately dressed. He was smoking a thin cigar and by the look of the ash trays spread round the room it was not his first of the day. He looked me straight in the eye and reached out his hand for me to give him the letter. He glanced at the envelope, made sure it hadn’t been opened and told me to help myself to coffee from a very expensive Wedgwood coffee pot on a side table that looked as if Chippendale himself had made it. I sat down opposite him expecting to have a chat after he finished reading the letter but instead he just looked at me as I drank my coffee. He already had a cup so I couldn’t very well offer to get him some. The coffee was hot and it seemed to take forever to drink and all he did was to look at me. I decided that two could play at that game so I just looked back. I finally managed to swallow the stuff, scalding myself in the process. There was no smile and barely any acknowledgement of my presence. It was really rather unpleasant. He finally lifted up a telephone receiver and gave permission to the guards to let me out. I never want to go there again.”

They finished their drinks and went back to the operations room. Marion smiled at them.
“The loading’s complete and the security guards are already on the aircraft. I’ve called for the van to take you out.”

What a super girl. She knew how hot they would get just walking to the aircraft in that humidity. They went outside as the van came up and, as they climbed in, the driver got permission on the radio to cross the ramp to the aircraft. Jim got out first, put his gear down and walked round the outside doing the external check. Bill climbed up the steps and put his bag next to his seat. The aircraft’s auxiliary power unit was running so that it was cool inside and Bill enjoyed the air conditioned atmosphere. He had been brought up in England and had never really accepted the tropical climate though he loved the benefits of the heat when it came to relaxation. He also knew that as one got older the joints were less likely to give trouble. To him, both Florida and St. Antony were prime examples of the extra life expectancy obtainable from a hot climate.

Bill took off his jacket and hat and went to the back of the aircraft. In fact they had taken the front twenty rows of seats out and lashed the boxes down to the floor. The two guards were sitting in the first row of seats. Bill didn’t like the look of them very much, both bearded, tough eggs, and he was pretty sure they both carried guns. One looked a bit smarter than the other, a white Caucasian, and tried a smile. The other looked very South American; someone had told him he was Venezulean or Colombian. There wasn’t much to choose between them. He wouldn’t have liked to meet either of them in the dark. Presumably they were very good guards or Westfield wouldn’t have hired them. It was no use fussing, he told himself, and went forward to look at the paper work. The passenger manifest showed Roger O’Sullivan and Claudio Fernandez. He hoped that the airline staff had checked them carefully or WAA would get fined by the Bermudan authorities. The load sheet seemed alright but he checked carefully that the centre of gravity was within limits with the freight as loaded and was again surprised to see how heavy the freight was. There just had to be more than valuable paintings inside some of those boxes. He wondered if the customs men had looked inside the crates though, as Marion had said, the freight was in transit so they didn’t have to care. Thank God it was no business of his. He looked at the technical log to make sure that all the snags from the last flight had been cleared. There was nothing of any significance. Chuck had done the radio. He signed the log and gave a copy of the sheet to the mechanic. He looked down just as Jim was putting his mobile phone away into his flight bag and climbing up the steps. Bill went back on to the flight deck and sat down in the left hand seat. Jim put his bag by the right hand seat on the flight deck and went back to close the cabin doors. On his return he strapped himself in and started the checks.

Bill took the flight plan disk out of his bag and inserted it into the Flight Management System, then selected the load page on the left hand flight management box and started the load procedure. Once the data had been loaded into the computers the pilots had very little more to do in order to get the two navigation displays in front of them showing the planned route, because the disk had not only the filed flight plan but also all the forecast winds and waypoints. Bill checked that the expected arrival time calculated by the computers agreed with the printed flight plan time that Marion had given him. In fact they agreed exactly showing a landing time of 0105Z. Bill called Marion on the company frequency, 132.65.

“West Atlantic Operations this is Alpha Lima, please confirm that the passports of our two passengers have been checked for correct visa requirements.”

“Alpha Lima, both have United States passports, Operations out.”

Bill was pleased that Marion had looked at the passports. He was slightly surprised to hear that Fernandez had a US passport since he looked as if he could barely understand English, but he knew from his frequent trips to Miami that the local population seemed to speak more Spanish than English. On the other hand, Westfield Insurance were hardly likely to employ non-US nationals considering the value of the paintings. Once more Bill was glad that it wasn’t his problem. Jim called St. Antony tower on the ground control frequency of 121.9 MHz.

“Nelson tower, this is Victor Papa Whisky Alpha Lima. Request permission to start.”

“Alpha Lima, this is Nelson please stand-by.”

There was a wait of about five minutes.

“Alpha Lima, this is Nelson. Clear to start, change to 118.2 and call San Juan Oceanic for clearance.”

Jim switched to the satellite radio.

“San Juan Oceanic, this is Victor Papa Whisky Alpha Lima, request clearance from Nelson to Bermuda.”
 “Victor Papa Whisky Alpha Lima this is San Juan. You are cleared as filed, upper amber 632 to Bermuda. Initial clearance Flight Level 100, expect 350 en route.”

Bill liked clearances as short as that. He set the glare shield altitude controller to 100 and made sure that both flight management computers showed the same flight plan. There was no way they could disagree since the flight plan disk loaded both computers with the same data and if there was a disagreement a warning was given. Nevertheless, Bill always liked to double check. He called the marshaller in front of the aircraft, who was connected to the aircraft intercom system, and asked him if the aircraft was clear of all ground equipment. Satisfied, he started the right engine with bleed air from the aircraft’s auxiliary power unit. The engine temperatures climbed and stabilised. He started the left hand engine and the moment ground idle rpm was reached he asked the charge hand to disconnect his intercom lead. Jim called the tower for taxi clearance.
Bill taxied straight ahead. That was the nice thing about not being parked at a finger from the terminal, there was no need for a push back and then having to disconnect from the towing vehicle. He steered the aircraft towards the new taxiway and the holding point for Runway Two Five. Thank goodness the St. Antony Government had finally spent the money and improved all the airfield facilities and taxiways. It had been needed for years since many of the tour companies had got fed up with the lack of facilities and moved away to more modern locations. Jim tested the satellite reporting equipment on the way out to make certain that the position of the aircraft would be transmitted automatically every 10 minutes to San Juan Center on the first part of the flight and every 5 minutes to New York Center on the second part. This was a relatively new technical innovation, both for the airline and for the Air Traffic System, but it made sure that the controllers who looked after the air space over the Atlantic, where there was no radar, could ‘see’ all the aircraft under their control when they were way outside radar cover in the middle of the Atlantic. The system was called ADS C, Automatic Dependent Surveillance, for no obvious reason, Automatic Position Reporting sounded much more logical to Bill. The C denoted the reporting was by satellite as distinct from ADS B where the reporting was via ground radar. It was part of the so called FANS, Future Air Navigation Systems, which again Bill thought illogical since the future was now. He got Jim to check the system was working.
“San Juan, this is Alpha Lima. Are you receiving our ADS?”

“Alpha Lima, this is San Juan Oceanic. We can see you on the ground at Nelson.”

“San Juan, thank you for check.”

VP-WAL reached the holding point of Runway Two Five and the two pilots could see an old 767, landing lights on in the gathering darkness, on three miles finals. 

“WAA VP-WAL you will be cleared into position after the landing 767.”

Jim acknowledged and as the Britannia 767 touched down with spurts of smoke from all the main wheels, Bill opened the throttles slowly and lined the aircraft up for take-off. He checked all his flight displays were normal and that the navigational displays were correctly lined up with the runway.
“WAA VP-WAL you are cleared for take-off when the runway is clear. You may climb as cleared to flight level 350.”

Jim acknowledged the Tower again, reset the glare shield controller to 350 and called out the final checks for take-off. Bill opened the throttles halfway and released the brakes. The aircraft accelerated slowly at first and Bill opened up the throttles the rest of the way forward. The aircraft picked up speed, Jim checked that they had the correct take-off power and then called the airspeed out as the plane got faster and faster. He called ‘V1’ as they were committed to go and not stop in the event of an engine failure, then ‘rotate’ as the aircraft reached the planned rotation speed, VR. Bill nudged the side stick controller backwards until the aircraft reached the right attitude for climbing out at V2 and then engaged the auto-pilot so that the aircraft would follow the planned track. The tower cleared them to Nelson approach frequency, 119.1, and the aircraft, controlled by the flight management system, turned right to capture the outbound track from St. Antony and then settled on the 358° True heading on Upper Amber 632 to Bermuda, climbing steadily. 
“San Juan, this is Alpha Lima. Airborne from Nelson, on course Bermuda, climbing to Flight Level 100 requesting 350. Please confirm when you are receiving valid ADS data.”

“Alpha Lima, this is San Juan. Cleared to 350, advise reaching. Will confirm ADS after next report.”

Bill checked that the aircraft was on the planned track by looking at his navigation display. He noticed that the St. Antony VOR direction marker on the display was missing and no DME was being displayed. He tried to manually tune in the other VOR but he could hear and see nothing of the VOR.
“Jim, I can’t get the VOR on either set and the DME is not showing.”

“That’s strange. I checked with Air Traffic that everything was working just before I left the operations room.”

Bill decided to check that the fault was not in the aircraft’s equipment.

“Approach from Alpha Lima. I can’t get the VOR.”

“Alpha Lima from Approach. Both the VOR and DME failed about an hour ago. Problem being investigated.”

Jim adjusted his flight management computer and both displays showed the desired track.

“Luckily the VOR/DME doesn’t matter Bill, the FMS uses satellites and the inertial gyros for calculating the position.”

“I know, but you know I always like checking.”
They were quickly in cloud at 3,000 ft. and Bill could see the intermittent glow of the navigation lights and the beacons. Jim got permission to change frequency and he called San Juan using their satellite transmitter receiver; reception was perfect. They came out of the low cloud at 6,000 ft. but the high cloud prevented him seeing the stars. The climb to their cruising altitude of 35,000 ft. took about thirty minutes and the aircraft levelled off automatically.
“San Juan, Alpha Lima. Level 350.”

“Thank you Alpha Lima. We are receiving your ADS.”

The aircraft was still in cloud and Bill looked at the weather radar. There was some weather ahead but not too much. Jim got out of his seat and produced some coffee and sandwiches. After 55 minutes the aircraft was at the latitude 23° 30' N waypoint, called PISAX, which divided the control responsibilities between San Juan and New York. South of that latitude was San Juan’s responsibility, north of the latitude New York Oceanic was in charge.

“San Juan Oceanic, this is Alpha Lima, we are showing our position at PISAX, request permission to transfer to New York.”

“Alpha Lima, this is San Juan, cleared to call New York Oceanic. Maintain 350.”

Bill switched to the New York Oceanic satellite operating frequency. He noticed that the returns on his weather radar seemed to be increasing.

“New York Oceanic, this is Victor Papa Whisky Alpha Lima en route Nelson to Bermuda, position PISAX flight level 350.”

“Alpha Lima, this is New York we see your ADS, check at LOPPS.”

LOPPS was the waypoint where the aircraft would enter Bermuda airspace, another 366 nautical miles ahead which would take them 48 minutes with the forecast wind. Bill started to get concerned as he could see some strong weather returns ahead.

“Jim, look at that weather. We shouldn’t be having anything significant on this heading.”

“I know, it’s very strange. Look, I’ve pulled down the stand-by compass out of its stowage to check, but it seems spot on allowing for 10° magnetic variation. Shall I call New York and get them to check the forecast weather en-route?”

“Good idea. Go ahead.”

Jim switched his selector box to the satellite frequency.
“New York Oceanic, this is Alpha Lima. We are getting a lot of weather ahead of us. Can you check with met on the latest forecast? We were expecting high cloud and no weather on the route to Bermuda.”

“Copied Alpha Lima. Stand-by.”

Bill disconnected the auto-pilot and manually steered the aircraft between the weather cells but he started to get concerned as the cells got more and more numerous and it was very difficult to see a way through. He switched the ADS C reporting rate to the maximum of 90 seconds so that the controllers could check the aircraft’s track more accurately. He put the seat belts sign on. He wished New York would hurry up with the weather. He looked at his watch. They had been flying for an hour and thirty five minutes and were now at the LOPPS reporting point, 180 miles from Bermuda. The aircraft followed the flight management system command and turned left onto 342°T direct to Bermuda and Bill steered the aircraft as best he could in that direction through the thunderstorm cells. Thank goodness they would be able to speak to Bermuda directly in about fifteen minutes.
“Alpha Lima, this is New York. We’ve checked with the forecaster and your weather en route is fine. There is still severe weather in the tropical storm but that is well off to your right.”

‘New York, Alpha Lima. Copied your message but weather around us and ahead is very stormy and turbulent. Out’

Bill rechecked the stand-by compass against the navigation display but there was still no significant discrepancy showing 352°M. He wished he had been able to check the VOR radial as they left St. Antony even though nowadays, with the latest navigation equipment, it did not seem necessary. He tried to see the stars but they were hidden by the cirrus. The aircraft was back right on the indicated track but it was getting into some moderate to severe turbulence. He switched his VHF set to the Bermuda approach frequency, 119.1, and called Bermuda. There was no reply. He listened out but he could not hear other aircraft calling Bermuda which worried him since, even if they were further away than he thought, he should have been able to hear other aircraft at that altitude. He switched the number one VOR receiver to the Bermuda beacon, 113.9, but there was no signal. He tried the second VOR but it was no better. He tried looking at the Distance Measurement beacon but again there was no response. They were showing 160 miles out from Bermuda according to the navigation display. Bill asked Jim to carry on steering the aircraft through the cells but it was getting increasingly difficult to fly it. There were frequent flashes of lightning which were very disturbing.

Bill decided to look at the Global Positioning System position page on the flight management computer and was astonished to see the page was blank. There should have been a warning on the navigation display if the GPS was not working. He tried the Galileo European Satellite System, GESS, but that page was blank as well. What the hell was going on? He tried the inertial navigation pages. The information seemed alright but Bill was getting extremely worried. Thank goodness they had taken off with a full load of fuel. At least that was a stroke of luck. If they couldn’t contact Bermuda soon he was going to turn straight round and return to St. Antony.

“New York Oceanic, this is Alpha Lima. We are in heavy weather with lots of lightning and severe turbulence. We should be 120 miles from Bermuda but we cannot raise them on the VHF and we cannot see Bermuda on our weather radar or receive their radio beacons. Will you please contact Bermuda and see if they can see us on their radar?”

“OK Alpha Lima. According to us you are right on track. Do you want descent clearance?”

“Not for the moment. We must get contact with Bermuda first.”

“Alpha Lima, this is Oceanic. Advise when you have contacted Bermuda Approach on 119.1”

The lightning was almost continuous now and the turbulence was very severe.
“New York, this is Alpha Lima. Situation is getting very difficult. We are having to make quite large changes of course, to avoid the worst cells. We are still unable to make contact with Bermuda. The turbulence is getting almost uncontrollable.”

“Alpha Lima, this is New York. Bermuda Radar advise that they cannot see you on their Radar. We see you 100 miles south of Bermuda on ADS.”

Bill knew something was seriously wrong and not just with the weather. He decided he couldn’t wait any longer despite New York telling him they were on track.

“Jim. Let’s go home. There’s something strange going on. Let’s get out of here. Do a 180° turn. I’m afraid Jimmy is going to have to wait for his paintings and gold bars or whatever they are.”

CHAPTER 1

‘Unto an isle so long unknown, 
And yet far kinder than our own?’
Incredibly the aircraft had vanished. Apparently the crew had been talking to Oceanic Control when the plane had suddenly disappeared into the Atlantic without a Mayday call. That was all. Nothing more. Another accident statistic the world didn’t need. 

 Our breakfast was forgotten. Mandy turned off the radio.

“What do you think happened, Peter?”

I looked at her. She wasn’t wearing very much but I wasn’t complaining. It was her flat after all and she must have set quite a high temperature on the heating system. Just as well, as it was blowing a gale outside and the sea was breaking over the wall. It was May but it might as well have been February it was so cold and there was no protection from the southerly gale. 

The BBC hadn’t really said anything except that the aircraft was missing, presumably because the particular news item wasn’t rated very highly in the scale of fatal disasters. They did mention that the R.A.F. were sending some aircraft to help in the search but the producer must have cut the rest.

“No idea. It could be so many things.”

She put her coffee down. We were in the middle of a late Saturday breakfast and had been listening to the news. 

“But you’re the expert!”

“And that’s why I’m not giving you an opinion. Stop winding me up.”

“It’s strange that it should be Bermuda. There must be something odd about the place. Aircraft always seem to be disappearing near there.”

“I’m not sure that’s statistically correct.” Mandy didn’t look convinced. “There have been some celebrated disappearances but they have occurred over a very long time frame and have been spread over a very wide area. As usual the media have just exaggerated the situation.” 

I paused. I had finished an accident investigation two months previously, which had got a lot of press coverage and had been exhausting physically, involving two flights to Australia in quick succession. I had been living with Mandy ever since the accident investigation had finished and our week-ends together were meant to be relaxing. During the week Mandy worked long hours in her solicitors’ office and I was able to work from her flat thanks to the internet. Accident investigation wasn’t really my expertise by training, though it looked as if it might become so in the future.. My education had been in electronics and I’d had to start using this knowledge after I’d had to stop flying when the medics said I had a heart problem. 
I found I could not stop myself thinking of the fate of the aircraft crew and passengers, lost in the inhospitable waters of the Atlantic. 

“I wonder if the newspapers have got anything about it?”

Mandy leant over and kissed my neck and I could smell that clean, after shower fragrance, in her hair. She felt me responding and then turned and walked slowly and seductively through the kitchen door to the hall outside and returned with a whole pile of papers which she dumped on the table. She selected the Telegraph but the way she handed it to me made me wonder whether I might be unpopular if I decided to read it immediately. We had been together now for about six months and I had got used to the idea that a first class lawyer could be very attractive sexually. As I reached out my hand to Mandy instead of the paper, she threw the Telegraph at me, grinned, sat down and started reading the Times.

I examined the paper. The Public Inquiry into the accident to the Royal World Airways 798 aircraft, in which I had unexpectedly become the star witness, had finally finished.
 It had been reconvened after the Chairman, Lord Justice Thomas, and his two assessors had got back from Australia. The plane had crashed at Heathrow with 429 people killed and 101 injured and a further 38 people killed in cars driving along the A30. The paper gave the findings and recommendations of the Inquiry. 

“The findings of the Inquiry have been very complimentary about you, darling. It says if it wasn’t for you, the pilots would have been blamed, the real cause would never have been found out and other similar accidents might have occurred in the future.”

“I wish the media would find some other news. The accident was five months ago. There must be other things to discuss.”

“But Peter, the accident was the biggest ever and the findings have only just been released. It will be a long time before it is forgotten.”

She was right but I didn’t like the notoriety from the media, knowing how fickle they were. I hadn’t realised there were so many different radio and TV channels. I refused interviews as a matter of principle since the producers always pasted and cut the interviews to suit the points they were trying to make, even when they said they wouldn’t. Though I needed the interview fees, I didn’t want my face to become public knowledge; not that I could stop the papers printing their photos. 

Thank goodness I had been able to escape down to Mandy’s instead of being at my house in Kingston. Looking back at the Royal World Airways accident, I could see that I had been a bit lucky getting such an important assignment from the insurers. I had done a small job for Mike Mansell of CrossLink Insurance some months earlier, before the accident, and he had called me the morning following the crash to get me to protect their position. My two trips to Australia had enabled me to find out what had actually happened and it was very clear that my success in the investigation would bring me more business. I had certainly needed it at the time. However, it now looked as if my work load was going to go from famine to feast, with articles to write, specialist interviews, and more insurance jobs in the pipeline. It all seemed so unfair that such a terrible accident had propelled me to fame, if not fortune.

I searched through the Telegraph for news on the aircraft that had been lost going to Bermuda. There was nothing in the main columns but there was something in the stop press ‘The Bermuda Triangle claims another victim.’ Apparently the aircraft was a European Aerospace 412 owned by West Atlantic Airways and had just disappeared as it was approaching Bermuda. The aircraft was carrying freight and there were only four people on board. I started looking at the other newspapers. 
Thank goodness Mandy always had a good selection delivered on Saturdays and Sundays. During the week I was having to go out every morning to get the papers since she bought what she wanted at the station, read them on the train and understandably never brought them home. There was no reference to the loss of the aircraft in the FT nor could Mandy find one in the Times. However, the Mail must have gone to press later than the other papers since it had managed to have the accident in the news. ‘Aircraft lost in Triangle’ with ‘Is the Bermuda Triangle a Black Hole?’ and there was some extra news that valuable paintings had been lost. I gave up looking any further. There was clearly nothing more to be learnt from the papers. I’d just have to wait. 
 “You know I told you that Mike sent me a large cheque,” Mandy put her paper down “in final settlement. I think we ought to go away on holiday for a bit.”

“You have to be joking. You’ve got a lot of articles to write and work to do. You would go mad if you weren’t doing something useful. Anyway you need to keep on working. Your girl friends are very expensive.” There was a pause. I could see Mandy thinking for a moment or two before continuing. “Where were you thinking of going? Japan, Singapore, Australia?”

I wasn’t sure how innocent was the question. Mandy was a super lawyer and I always felt it was necessary to give her questions the consideration they deserved.

“None of those and certainly not Australia. I don’t need the practice.” I looked at her carefully. “Could you afford the time?”

“Wait a moment. Are you including me in? I’ll have to consider my position, going away with a strange man. It’s the sort of thing my mother tells me I shouldn’t do. She calls you her sin-in-law.” She paused reflectively. “I think I’d like to go to Australia. It might be quite nice. And I want to visit all the places you went to. You still haven't really told me all you did in Sydney. How did you persuade Liz to come to England to be a witness?”
She looked at me quizzically but then leant over and kissed me in a way that clearly suggested she wasn't intending to make a ‘cause celébre’ out of it. But then she was a very sensible solicitor and knew exactly when to stop probing. Just as well, as there was no way I could tell her what I'd had to do to get Liz, the girl who helped me solve the RWA accident, to come to England. I hadn’t realised what a hard time investigators have.
 “There’s something worrying you, Peter. You are not concentrating on the papers and you are certainly not concentrating on me even though I’m right next to you. Is it that accident in the Atlantic?”

I nodded. I wouldn’t admit it to anybody but the accident seemed very clear cut. For some reason the aircraft must have got involved in some bad weather, the crew had lost the place, the aircraft had got out of control and had dived into the Atlantic. Still, why was there no MAYDAY? It couldn’t have been a fatigue failure of the pressure cabin like the Comet; apart from anything else the aircraft was relatively new. I tried out all sorts of other scenarios and then gave up. There were no facts to go on. Perhaps Sunday’s paper would throw more light on the matter.

Mandy’s flat was in Bournemouth, probably because she liked sailing. She raced in some of the faster machines when she could get some free time, otherwise she sailed in her own Moody 34. I was not too keen on racing and so far we had only been over to Cowes and Yarmouth on the Isle of Wight. I was looking forward to going over to France when the weather got a bit warmer. Her flat had certainly proved a good place for me to avoid the reporters. I stretched out and audibly relaxed. I might just as well enjoy this last week-end before going back to live at Kingston. As Mandy said, I had been working very hard ever since the accident to the RWA aircraft. Perhaps I did need a break. Mandy was reading the papers again. I took them away from her and she didn’t complain.

We spent the rest of the day very quietly. It was before the tourist season and we went for a walk along the front towards Hengistbury Head. It definitely was unusual weather, cold and windy but the rain held off. 

In the evening I took Mandy to dinner to Chez Dominique, a very nice French restaurant which had a small dance floor. Mandy put on a short dress with a low neckline which showed her figure off to perfection. The food was excellent and we enjoyed dancing to a sophisticated three piece band, saxophone, double bass and piano. We stayed until after midnight when they played the last waltz and Mandy danced very close indeed. 

In the morning we took our time waking up and getting up. I could still smell the perfume in her hair when I held her close. She got up and disappeared to the kitchen. 

The phone rang. I could tell from the ring that it was diverted from Kingston and was for me.

“Peter.”

I froze. The voice sounded very familiar. I had heard it two months ago after a gap of five years. 
 “I’ve just been reading the final report of the Crash Inquiry. You were really marvellous.”

Mandy was coming back and I put the phone down without saying anything, as I had done once before. She reappeared with some coffee which smelt superb, croissants and the Sunday papers piled high on a tray. I wanted to grab the papers but decided that Mandy would prefer it if we had breakfast first. Actually it was a sensible decision since I always found croissant crumbs tended to permeate throughout the bedclothes if one tried to read the papers at the same time. 

“Who was it?”

“Oh, somebody trying to sell you double glazing.”

“I thought I had stopped those calls.”
“It was a foreign sounding voice. You can’t stop the overseas ones.”

I began to wish I had not had my phone calls patched through to Mandy’s. When we finished breakfast I took the tray out to the kitchen and dialled 1471 on the kitchen phone to hear the calling number of the last phone call.

“Service Activated. Telephone Number Country USA 2021 413 5367 at 0805 GMT. Press 3 to return the call.”

I made a note of the number and the time on a piece of paper and stuffed it in the back of the telephone directory to recover later. I was sure the call was from Diana, my missing wife of five years, though she sounded slightly as if she had been drinking. I wasn’t sure what to do. I didn’t feel ready to talk about it yet.
When I got back Mandy had already opened the Sunday Times and that suited me since I wanted to read the Mail which had been very close to the 412 story yesterday. I didn’t have to look very hard. On the front page was “Ten masterpieces lost in Bermuda Triangle.” Apparently ten paintings, all impressionists, were being returned to Jimmy Morrison, head of the Paragon Corporation, whose main home was in Bermuda. They had been on display in London in the previous year but had been delayed in St. Antony due to a court case. They were finally being taken back to Bermuda. The paintings were listed in the paper, goodness knows how in the time. Presumably the reporter must have been talking to someone who handled the exhibition at the Royal Academy. There was one of the Monet haystacks, a Monet water-lily study, a Monet outdoor scene, two ballet studies by Degas, a nude by Manet, a small portrait by Renoir, an unusual Toulouse-Lautrec, a landscape by Cezanne, finally another landscape by Pissarro. 
The aircraft had been talking to Oceanic Control Center in New York and then all communication stopped. It had been roughly 100 miles South of Bermuda. The Royal Air Force were sending two of their Nimrod Mk 4 aircraft to search for the 412 and look for any survivors. The United States Navy were also sending two aircraft and a helicopter. The Royal Navy luckily had a frigate visiting Bermuda and it was on stand-by to join in the search. I looked at the other papers and the stories were similar. 
“Peter, what do you really make of this Bermuda Triangle story?” Mandy had been watching me sifting through the papers.

“It’s difficult to say anything definite. There are no real details in the papers. We’ll have to wait a few days before we get anything significant. Aviation Week and Flight will have some more information by Thursday.”

“Is it really a dangerous place to fly?”

I looked at her wondering whether she was being serious and came to the conclusion that she believed, like many people who had not investigated the stories, that there was something in the reputation that the area had for untimely disappearances.

“My love, I have to tell you that I am a disbeliever of such stories. I’m sure it is as safe to fly or sail in the Bermuda Triangle as anywhere else in the world. If there are any problems they will be caused by the weather, not by black holes or marauding aliens.”

I wasn’t sure that Mandy was completely convinced by my assurances as we got up and went to the Poole Yacht Club for a drink. I was getting to know quite a few of Mandy’s expert yachting friends. On our return, I decided I’d better check Mandy’s answering machine. There were several messages for me, mostly about the RWA accident, but there was one which got my attention. It was for me to call a Frank Westbourne in St. Antony in the Leeward Islands; the message was left at 12.05. I looked at my watch, it was just after lunch, 2 o’clock. Westbourne must have called me at 8 o’clock in the morning his time so he must be very keen to speak to me. I told Mandy about the call and she took my hand as I reached for the telephone.

“Peter, you know what he wants. He needs your help in St. Antony, right now.” She looked at me. “Have you worked out what you are going to charge him?” I shook my head. “I don’t think you should call him until you’ve thought through what your rates are going to be.”

She was quite right. But then it was part of her job as a lawyer to think about fees. My standing and value in the profession had clearly increased enormously as a result of the Inquiry into the RWA accident. I really did need to decide my scale of fees before calling Westbourne. We talked it over and came out with a scale of fees far, far higher than I would have dreamt of charging. By myself I would have been swayed by the fact that the airline was quite small and only had a few Boeing 737s and European Aerospace 412s and couldn’t afford very much. Mandy told me I couldn’t afford to be a philanthropic society.

“This accident sounds like it has enormous insurance significance quite apart from the loss of the aircraft. Think of the value of the paintings. He clearly needs you urgently, judging by the time he called you.”

We talked it over some more and then I called Frank Westbourne.

“Peter, thanks for returning my call. I don’t think we’ve met. I’m the owner and chief executive of West Atlantic Airways. We have six Boeing 737-700s and five European Aerospace 412s or rather we had five. Did you see we lost one on Friday night going into Bermuda? It’s a terrible tragedy and we have no idea what happened. I’m calling you because the insurers of the hull are saying that it looks like pilot error and that they are not going to pay us if it is pilot error again.”

“I don’t understand, Mr. Westbourne.”

“Well we lost an aircraft making a bad weather visual approach into Nelson airport, here in St. Antony, about six months ago and I’m sorry to say that the pilot made a mistake. He should have waited until the storm had passed through. Very disappointing as it was our first local St. Antony Captain on the 412. The insurance company immediately put an exclusion in the policy which said that they would not cover pilot error accidents.”

“That’s a very difficult exclusion to police, Mr. Westbourne.”

“Please call me Frank, Peter. I agree but they insisted and that’s why I want you to come out and help us. The St. Antony Government has asked the UK Government for help and two Aircraft Accident Investigation Branch inspectors are arriving to-day, but even if they find the cause of the accident they won't be defending our position. I’ve read all the reports of the RWA Inquiry and, if I may say so, you did an absolutely outstanding job against all the odds. I need someone like you to look after WAA’s interests. If you’ll agree to come I only hope you’ll be able to help us the way you helped RWA.”

“I think you’ve got an unjustified expectation of my ability to help you. However the case does interest me. Who did you say your insurers were?”

“I didn’t but they are Hull Claims Insurance.” 

I knew them alright. It looked as if they were going to have to pick up the tab for the RWA accident as a result of my efforts. I shouldn’t think I was the flavour of the month with them.

“Frank, what actually happened on the flight?”

“It was a short notice freight flight, flying machinery and ten paintings, masterpieces actually, which belonged to Jimmy Morrison, who owns the Paragon Corporation. The paintings were insured by Westfield Insurance and the airframe, crew and passengers by Hull Claims. There were two pilots and two Westfield Guards on board. They took off for Bermuda and the flight seemed to be going alright but the aircraft apparently got lost, though New York Oceanic said it was on track according to the automatic position reports on the screens in New York. It sounds most peculiar and to be honest I don’t understand it. That’s why I want you to investigate on our behalf.”

“The investigation could take some time, Frank. I think you should know what you are letting yourself in for financially if I come and help you.”

“Look, Peter, I understand that in life you get what you pay for. I’m assuming that the investigation will take about a total of 30 workings days initially. You’re quite right to raise the matter now. Nobody likes surprises. What are your charges?”

I gave him my fees which were additional to my direct expenses and he accepted straightaway without demur.

“When can you start? The sooner the better.”

“Well I have to work in London to-morrow but I might be able to travel on Tuesday. From what you say I need to talk to New York Oceanic. It might make good sense for me to visit Oceanic on Tuesday afternoon before coming down. I would be with you then Wednesday evening. How does that sound?”

“Fine Peter. Let me know your flight details. I’ll make a hotel reservation anyway.”

Frank rang off and my mind was racing around trying to assimilate all that he had told me. It seemed a strange business. New York Oceanic knew where the aircraft was but the crew didn’t and then it disappeared.

“That sounded alright, Peter. It looks as if you’ve got another job.”

Mandy had clearly followed every word.

“Yes it does but I’m going to have to move if I’m travelling on Tuesday to New York. I’d like to talk to Bob Furness, AAIB. He’s still the head of the Air Accident Investigation Branch at Farnborough. I also need to talk to Hull Claims to hear a bit about the accident.”

“Why don’t you travel Wednesday and be there Thursday?”

She was right again. It did sound more sensible. But it was difficult for me to think clearly because the earlier telephone call had given me a shock. The voice on the phone had sounded very like Diana.
“Peter, what are you going to do about an office.” I forced myself to listen. “There’s no question of your going anywhere, work or holiday, until you’ve sorted that out. You need a proper office and secretarial support. Whether you like it or not, you’ve become well known, notorious, famous, whatever word you like to use. You always wanted to be a consultant and now that you are going to be an extremely successful one, you need a secretary at the very least.”

“You’re right. I’ve been thinking about that. But you know the interest in the RWA accident will soon disappear. It would be premature to make any large investment until I get more long term business. I’m sure there must be secretarial agencies which will provide a service for me. Why don’t I do some telephoning on Monday and choose one? I can then divert all my telephone calls to the agency when I’m away and take it from there.”

“Sounds a good idea but you had better interview the agencies. Some of the ‘hole in the corner’ outfits just won’t do for someone in your position. You need an agency with presence, one that has a reception area and also has occasional offices for meetings. It’s going to cost you but, as I said earlier, you don’t have any alternative if you are going to take on more work. Getting an agency and signing an agreement is going to take time.”

“Yes, but at least an agency is not a lifetime’s commitment.”
I could feel myself getting slightly frustrated. Mandy was quite right, I did need some form of an office where people who needed me could contact me, leave messages and the like. She was also right that I would find doing nothing absolutely impossible. She had clearly got to understand me very well as a result of our living together. The Royal World Airlines accident investigation had certainly bound our relationship closer. I hoped, as I believed she did, that our association might be an enduring one but, unfortunately, any hope that our relationship could become permanent was problematical because Diana had left a big question mark over everything, particularly for me after the telephone calls. 

Diana and I had been married for several years. I was a pilot flying for Britannia when we first met but I had begun to suspect that she was being unfaithful to me while I was overseas. Matters came to a head one day when I got home after two weeks away on a trip to New Zealand and found there was no sign of her. I had tried everything I knew at the time to find out what had happened but without any success. Her parents had also tried very hard but they too had found nothing. The police, understandably, suspected me of getting rid of her since invariably the husband was the guilty person in these situations. They examined every inch of the house and kept on questioning me but they finally decided to leave me alone when they established beyond doubt that she had been alive three days after I had gone on my trip and that I really had been on the other side of the world. The police then, in my opinion for the first time, seriously started searching all their databases of missing persons, but all to no avail. 
It was not long after Diana disappeared that I lost my pilot's licence because of my heart condition. I had appealed, since my own medical consultant had said it was a lot of nonsense, but in truth I had not been too worried since I got paid my loss of licence insurance in full and I had always intended to stop flying sometime and start using my electronic engineering degree in some way. I had managed to earn some money specialising in the training of airline pilots in human factors on the flight decks of new commercial airliners, but, until the RWA accident, I been finding business very slow going.

I had tried again quite recently to find some trace of Diana, when Mandy felt we could not progress our relationship any further without some more searching. I had spoken to Diana’s parents as well as to the police but, as before, we seemed to be completely up against a brick wall. Mandy was torn between wanting us to live a normal life together right now and getting everything sorted out first. Not altogether surprising since she was a hard working City solicitor. When she was in the office she tried to make certain every angle was covered but I had noticed that her resolve seemed to lessen the further away she got from her desk. As things stood at the moment, in two years time it would be seven years since Diana had disappeared and I could have a divorce on the presumption of her death. Of course the telephone calls, if they were indeed from her, would re-open the whole situation and I clearly needed to find out if it was Diana who phoned, and what she was doing. I was in two minds whether to discuss the recent telephone calls with Mandy but decided I would try to trace the location of the last call first.
“Peter, you’d better go home right now and start sorting things out. Especially as you’ve been away so long,” Mandy was being practical. “It’s a pity because we were having such a nice week-end but you need to start thinking about what you ought to be doing. I’ll take you to catch the 5.23 and you’ll be home reasonably early. If you stay here to-night, which of course would be very nice, you’ll start on the wrong foot to-morrow. There are bound to be things you need to do.”

I didn’t argue as there certainly was a lot to do. We brought our week-end to a close and I returned to my home in Kingston, carrying as much as I could of my clothes and the work I had been doing. 
As I opened the door, the house smelt musty and unlived in which was a bit surprising since I knew Dora, my help, had been cleaning the place regularly. I turned on the heating, then cancelled the call forwarding and listened to the new messages on my answering machine which I had not cleared from Mandy’s. There were a few messages sounding as though they might be new business. I made a note of them, ignored the rest and then got out my diary and the piece of paper with the number I had copied down on Saturday morning. It was a downtown New York City area code.

“Adelphi Hotel. How can I help you?” 

I might have guessed. Unless I was able to examine the hotel register I wasn’t going to make any progress and even looking at the register wasn’t going to help since the girl told me, when I asked, that they had 350 rooms. The register would be on the computer but even with a printout I wouldn’t know what I would be looking for. Still, if the voice was Diana it was a step forward, knowing that she was alive and was actually in New York on Saturday morning. Mind you, it was a strange time for her to call me, 3.05 in the morning Eastern Standard time. Maybe she had indeed been drinking which might explain why she called me. Before ringing off I got the hotel address and, looking at a map I had, it seemed to be in quite a good location in Mid Town. I started to tidy up my office and went to bed.

On Monday I walked to Kingston station, all muffled up as there was a cold wind, and caught the 8.15 to Waterloo. All the papers were covering the loss of the WAA 412 though there was nothing new, so the Bermuda Triangle angle was being worked overtime. The editors reminded their readers of the loss of the two Avro Tudors in the late 1940s, Star Tiger and Star Ariel, both belonging to British South American Airways, both disappearances never explained satisfactorily. In addition, other tragedies like the discovery of the derelict brigantine Marie Celeste were mentioned and the many United States aircraft that had disappeared in the area. By the time the articles had been written and read it was not too difficult to believe that there really was indeed something sinister in the area bounded by Bermuda, Florida, Cuba and the Caribbean. As I walked across Waterloo Bridge to the CrossLink Office in Holborn where Mike Mansell worked, feeling cold and looking at the cold and deserted Thames, I reflected that it would at least be warm in the Bermuda Triangle. 

I told Mike about the call from Frank Westbourne. He looked at me thoughtfully.
“Peter, you are getting well known.”

“Only thanks to you, Mike.”

“Nonsense. As the lawyer said to you at the Inquiry, the harder you work the luckier you become.” There was a pause. “Yes, actually I did hear a report on the accident. It sounds a very interesting case. You know these crashes which end up in the sea are always very tricky to sort out.” Mike smiled. “Especially in the Bermuda Triangle. You know it is strange how many aircraft have disappeared round there.” He paused again. “I expect St. Antony will be safe enough but leave me a contact number just in case. Anyway, I suppose I can always use your mobile number?”

I nodded and went on to explain my secretarial requirements and as I had hoped, Mike offered to help. He rang up the firm that provided secretaries to CrossLink Insurance and wrote down the four or five firms they suggested to him which provided the type of support I needed. He gave me the list and I decided to start inspecting them straightaway. Being an optimist I wondered if I would be able to choose one immediately, so that I could start using one of their offices to ring Bob Furness at AAIB.

Before leaving Mike I asked him about West Atlantic Airways. He got out a reference book and looked through some of his own notes.

“It seems a good airline and has been operating for over 20 years. As you know they use Hull Claims Insurance who are a first class firm but, like most companies these days, they won’t pay up if there is the slightest transgression with the conditions in the policy. They had to pay for the one that crashed in St. Antony before and understandably they don’t want to pay for another one. Airlines need to be absolutely meticulous with their paperwork and so there had better not be anything wrong with WAA’s. Anyway, John Southern is the guy you need to talk to at Hull Claims. I’m sure he’ll know what is going on. By the way Peter, do you know if they’ve found any wreckage yet?" He was obviously very interested in the accident.
“I've no idea. I'm going to sort out my office situation right now and then ring up Bob Furness to hear what he knows so far. Apparently AAIB have sent two people out to investigate. By the way, can I really approach Hull Claims Insurance, bearing in mind that, thanks to me, they will probably have to fork out a lot of money to RWA instead of your firm?” 

“Of course you can. It’s going to take a very long time before it is decided who pays and when. I'm sure John will talk to you, Peter. You forget that you are now a significant player in the aviation insurance scene. They won't be surprised at all to find you are being retained by WAA.”

Mike gave me Southern’s number and I left to go down the Strand to the first address he had given me. It did not have a very impressive interior and the entrance was down a not very salubrious side street. I had a job finding the next place down a small passage near the Law Courts and I didn’t like the look of it. The third address was near the river in Farringdon Street, the Drake Williams agency, and it had the right feel straightaway. I saw the lady in charge of the organisation, Daphne Williams, and she showed me one of the rooms, the other four were being used. The reception looked efficient and we spent some time in her office discussing what I would need and she gave me some costings, which made my eyes water a bit. However, there did not seem to be much alternative if I was going to be travelling the world and having to keep things under control at home at the same time. She produced the papers for me to sign and asked me to commit to using them for two years with one year’s notice but I didn’t want that. She settled for one year and thereafter six months notice and we were on our way. Mandy had forecast that finding a suitable office would take a day or so but it had only taken a morning. Mind you, Mandy would probably have spent at least half a day poring over the legal agreement. I went into the empty room and called Bob Furness.

“Peter, how can I help you? The Sunday papers had a field day over the Inquiry as I am sure you noticed. You did alright but I got a caning, which I suppose I deserved in the circumstances.”

It had been unfortunate, but the accident inspector Bob had put in charge of the RWA investigation had not done the job properly; he had been in financial trouble through gambling and had sold information to the press. Bob should have spotted what was going on. The inspector finally committed suicide which was an appalling tragedy for his family.
“Bob, I believe you’re investigating the West Atlantic Airways missing European Aerospace 412?”

“Yes, Peter we are. The aircraft was registered in St. Antony and the St. Antony Government called the Foreign Office for help. It’s been agreed that we’re in charge of the investigation though I don’t know who’s going to pay for it. My budget can’t stand it without some help, that’s for sure. Anyway what’s your interest?”

“Well, Frank Westbourne called me on Sunday morning and asked me to help them. I was going to rush out there but it occurred to me that I could get a lot of the background from you and from the insurance company. Would you mind bringing me up to date?”

“Not a bit. The aircraft, registration VP-WAL, was flying to Bermuda with a full load of freight, just two passengers and two crew. It took off at 6.30 local time on Friday night and the flight should have taken two and a half hours but it never arrived.
 “Apparently the aircraft left St. Antony Approach frequency, called San Juan Oceanic and, for all practical purposes the flight seemed entirely normal. Of course there is no radar coverage for the flight out over the water but the automatic satellite position reporting, you know ADS, was quite normal showing the aircraft right on track. It was transferred to New York Oceanic and they too were receiving the ADS position reports showing the aircraft to be on the correct track. However, when the aircraft was about 180 miles out from Bermuda the ground radar could not see it, nor could Bermuda Approach talk to the pilots. The Bermuda controller called New York and asked them to check with the aircraft. Meanwhile the pilot seemed to be getting very worried. He remarked that they were flying into some very heavy weather and he could not see the island on the weather radar. After another fifteen minutes the crew were clearly becoming extremely concerned. They could not talk to Bermuda on the VHF radio, only by satellite to New York Oceanic and, apparently, the crew were having the greatest difficulty, flying in a storm with lots of lightning and severe turbulence. The aircraft was obviously lost even though, incredibly, its automatic position reports showed that it was just south of Bermuda where the weather was good. Suddenly all voice communication with New York ceased and no further ADS position reports were received. I sent Jack Wellings out there with Brian Fletcher, our avionics specialist yesterday. What I’ve just told you I got from them late last night.”

“Bob, has there been wreckage anywhere?”

“No not yet, but it’s early days. The Atlantic is so vast. Luckily the US Navy had a search aircraft at Kindley Field, Bermuda and they sent it out on Saturday and Sunday but nothing has been seen. Two Nimrods from Kinloss started searching on Sunday, so far without success. It looks as if the aircraft went straight in without trace. The wreckage is bound to start coming in soon, it always does. You know, seat cushions, dinghies, the odd life jacket, floating material and bodies.”

“But Bob, the whole thing sounds ridiculous. You say the aircraft flew in a straight line to Bermuda but when it was nearly there, it wasn’t there at all but somewhere else in the middle of the Atlantic? What was the total weather situation in the area?”

“Ah, that's an interesting question. There was this very unseasonal tropical storm. It had moved west from Africa to the Leeward Islands in the Caribbean south of Dominica, then veered north to go west of St. Antony and finally tracked north and east so that it was forecast to be east of Bermuda, Category 1, at the time they were due to land. The Miami weather men named the storm Angela being the first of the season. The winds were well over 100 mph as Angela started going north but were said to be just under a 100 mph at the time the aircraft disappeared. There seemed to be extensive associated storms swirling round the centre. The whole area was overcast with high cloud.

“Had the aircraft been on track there wouldn’t have been any problem. However, they must have flown straight into the storm, goodness knows how. To be honest Peter, we have no clues at all at the moment. It just doesn’t make sense. If the aircraft was flying in the wrong direction why did the position reports show it was on track? By the way, there is something else worrying us.”

“About the aircraft?”

“Well about the European 412. It’s a fly-by-wire aircraft of course, no control runs to the flying controls, just electrical signalling from the front of the aircraft to the control motors. It’s a well proven system now, on civil as well military aircraft. All the latest Airbus aircraft, the Boeing 777 and the Independant 798 are fly-by-wire. However, the 412, like the 798, has gone for optical fibre connections instead of wires to carry the signals from the pilot to the control surfaces and we are concerned technically. It should be perfectly alright, in fact safer than using wires because it should be less prone to electrical interference but, nevertheless, it’s a new development and so we have to be extra sure that it’s not a factor in this accident.”

“Who have you spoken to?”

“So far just the Safety Regulation Group of the Civil Aviation Authority at Gatwick. As you would expect they’re very concerned. But you have to remember they only rubber stamped the certificate of airworthiness. It was certificated by a team from the European Aviation Safety Agency. We’ll just have to see what transpires during the investigation. We really need the accident recorders at the very least to see what happened.”

“That’s going to be quite difficult isn’t it, Bob?”
“Well I feel this accident is so important in view of the possible design implications that we just have to try to find the two recorders and, hopefully, the aircraft. The technology of searching the sea bed for wrecks has improved significantly in recent years, as you know, so we have authorised the firm that advises us in these matters, World Underwater Surveys Ltd. to get quotations and time scales to start searching. Nowadays there is a much better chance of finding the aircraft because accident data recorders have to carry sonar beacons which give the searching vessels a real chance to hear the noise from the beacon if they can get in the search area quickly.”

“Why don’t they have some means to make the recorders float as they do on the North Sea Helicopters? That would really solve the whole thing.”

“The problem about that is that there would have to be some ejection mechanism to release the recorder when it hits the water and that would mean all the world’s transport aircraft would be flying around with an ejection device which might go off when it shouldn’t and damage the aircraft. It could cause more accidents than it would save. I believe that there is some work going on trying to ensure the recorders do leave the aircraft and float if an aircraft crashes into the sea but that’s way in the future.”

“Surely it is still very difficult to find a crashed aircraft, even with a beacon? The chances are that it will have split into small fragments when it hit the water, unless it was ditched, so it will be virtually an impossible task. How on earth can you hope to find anything?”

“I agree it is a long shot to find the recorders and hull but we have to try. Remember, if we can just find one of the recorders we should be able to make some progress in the accident investigation. Of course finding the recorders is only half the battle, we still have to recover them and that’s where World Underwater Surveys come in. They advise us of the best way of getting hold of them. You appreciate that finding and getting the recorders is a battle against time?”

“Not exactly, I’ve never really thought about the problem before.”

“Well the sonar beacons on the recorders can’t go on transmitting for ever. They can only last for about a month and so if we don’t find and recover them quickly the chances of ever getting them back are small. In the specific case of this European 412, I’ve authorised World Underwater Surveys to send a man out to Bermuda straightaway to help in the search and, of course, to decide what is really needed to actually recover the recorders and, hopefully, to find the aircraft. There is a frigate in Bermuda, HMS Broadside, which has a hydrophone on board tuned to the right frequency to hear the sonar beacon; it should be able to find the recorders providing they are not too deep. Trouble is that if the aircraft is in deep water it’s still like finding a needle in a haystack even with a beacon. Unfortunately the hydrophone has to be towed because the acoustic noise from the ship itself drowns the crash recorder signal and the hydrophone can only be towed very slowly, 4 knots maximum, so searching for a beacon is a very slow business and the deeper the beacon, the closer the search tracks have to be. To be honest the success rates of these sonar beacons transmitting in emergencies have not been as good as we would like.”

“Can’t the Nimrod drop a hydrophone or even two in order to pinpoint the exact position of the recorder?”

“Yes Peter, it can. But it comes back to knowing roughly where the aircraft crashed so that the hydrophone will be able to hear the beacon. Unless some fairly exact position of the crash is known the Nimrod will run out of hydrophones before the beacon is heard.”

 Bob carried on.

“Now, what our Navy has done, very sensibly, is to set up an operations room in Bermuda. The whole area being searched is being controlled from this ops. room which is coordinating all the search operation, that is the US Navy aircraft, the Nimrods and, of course, the frigate. The problem Peter is where to ask the frigate to start searching. Should we believe the ADS or the weather people?”

“I would have thought you would have believed the weather people but I agree it’s a real problem.”

“That’s my view also. The Nimrods are already searching in that area and the US Navy aircraft is tracking out south of Bermuda believing the ADS. We’ve got to get a lead quickly from the sonar beacons or from some wreckage or we’ll never find the aircraft and the recorders. Things are made much worse in the Atlantic because of the depth and the weather. Operating a search which must, of course, be very accurate from an underwater navigational point of view, rapidly gets impossible if the weather deteriorates. If we have to resort to a towfish or a Remote Observation Vehicle, good weather becomes even more important.”

“What on earth is a towfish?”

“It’s a device, which as it name implies, is towed through the water by a search ship and uses sidescan sonar to survey the sea bed so that the operator on the surface can see the terrain of the sea bed and, possibly, the shape of the crashed aircraft. Of course the data from the towfish is only an indication. If we thought we had spotted an aircraft we would have to use a TV camera to check one way or the other. Hopefully, we won’t have to use a towfish but just a hydrophone to hear the recorders. That’s where World Underwater Surveys come in. They advise us what we need in the current situation. Once the accident data recorders have been ‘heard’ I would expect them to recommend a ship which has a Remote Observation Vehicle, ROV, with TV and the necessary underwater lifting gear to recover the recorders and also relatively large pieces of wreckage. Of course the ship would also carry a towfish in case it’s needed. One of the problems in our work is that when we need a ship and equipment, we need it immediately and there are only a limited number of ships in the world that can do this work and they are normally on long term contract work. We keep portable hydrophone equipment at Farnborough and Jack Wellings took one set out with him but luckily it isn’t needed immediately in Bermuda because of the Navy.”

“Can’t you use a manned submersible for the search, Bob?”

“Not really. It’s true that in deep water the submersible is not affected by the weather but the endurance of the vehicle is very short and it has to be supported by a surface vehicle. Remember, accurate knowledge of position is vital and you can’t use satellite navigation underwater.”

“But then how do the submersibles manage to navigate, or the towfish for that matter?”

“Well the submarines are able to navigate for short distances on their own internal equipment but the accuracy soon degrades, so really it’s a combination of the ship’s position plus ‘pinging’ the towfish or the submersible with directional sonar from the ship so that the position of the underwater searching device can be calculated. Thank goodness for global positioning systems; in the past the positions depended on how good the ship’s navigation officer was.”

“Well Bob, let’s hope someone finds the beacon very soon so that there’s a chance to make the recovery.”

 “You and me both. I shall be very interested to see what World Underwater Surveys advise.”

“Surely they’re going to advise searching whatever the difficulty, because they get a percentage of the contract?”

“If we thought that we wouldn’t have given them the contract to advise us. They’re meticulous and always justify their advice in great detail. If they think we will be wasting our time they will say so. By the way, you do know that WAA lost another European a few months ago?”

“So I believe. What happened there?”

“Oh, that was a clear cut case of flying too low, trying to fly visually in bad weather. They lost forty passengers and four crew. We did the investigation on that accident as well. It was very sad. In fact we have only just issued the report. Would you like me to send you a copy?”

“Please. That would be great.” I gave Bob the address of my new office. We chatted for a few more minutes but Bob was not able to add anything new.

“Bob, I plan to go out in a few days. Could you let your people know I'm coming and hopefully we will be able to exchange information?"

“No problem there. I'll tell them to expect you. They've got an office on the airfield and I’m sure Frank Westbourne will be able to take you round and make the introductions."

Daphne Williams put her head round the door just as I put the phone down.

“Can we get you anything? Coffee? How about a sandwich? We are getting an order together now.”

It sounded good to me and I placed my order. 
“Could you do something else for me? Could you ring Kelvin Hughes at Hainault and get them to send me, by first class post to-day to my home, two charts of Bermuda, one for the whole island and one for the east end? They don’t have to be fully corrected. Would you also contact Jeppeson Sanderson either in Englewood Colorado or Germany and get them to send me c/o Frank Westbourne, West Atlantic Airways, Nelson Airport in St. Antony, Leeward Islands a complete aerial chart coverage of Latin America and the Caribbean, I think they call it a trip kit, they used to when I was a boy anyway. See if they can also send me a 1/1,000,000 aeronautical topographical map coverage for the area. If they can’t, I’m sure they will be able to tell you where you can get them. They’re probably obtainable over here even though they are US Government Charts but I’m not sure where.”

This was better than being alone at home. I decided to call Frank Westbourne in St. Antony. He had just got in to the office. I told him what I was doing and that I would now be arriving in St. Antony on Thursday. Apparently the aircraft were still searching but there was no sign of any wreckage. 
“Frank, have you alerted shipping to keep a look out for wreckage?”

“Well I’ve asked the people in London at Lloyds to send out an alert bulletin. There’s just got to be some wreckage sometime.”

“OK. I’ll call you soon with my flight details.”

One of the girls in the office appeared with my sandwich order and some coffee. I called Hull Claims and asked for John Southern.

“Mr. Southern, we haven’t met. My name is Peter Talbert and I’m acting for West Atlantic Airways.”

“Hello Mr. Talbert. Your name and face are, of course, well known to me because I was at the Inquiry two months ago when you were explaining why, in your opinion, the RWA accident was not pilot error. As you well know, you may have caused the insurance claims to move from CrossLink towards my company. Of course there is a lot of water to flow under that bridge yet. Anyway let’s leave that to one side. How can I help you?”

“Frank Westbourne of WAA has asked me to try to assist him and before going out to Bermuda I thought it would be useful to have a chat.”

“Fine, why don’t you come round and see me? It’s easier than talking over the phone.”

We agreed to meet at his office in Mincing Lane. I called Mandy’s office but she was busy and her secretary took a note of my new office number and address. I had plenty of time and the weather was bright, though cold, so I walked to Mincing Lane. Hull Claims Insurance was on the first floor. I gave my name to the man at the desk and sat down. 
John Southern appeared and introduced himself. He was about sixty years old, thin, and he looked at me over stainless steel reading glasses.

“So Mr. Talbert, the RWA Inquiry’s finally over?”

“Peter, please. Yes, thank goodness. Just as well as I plan to be in St. Antony on Wednesday or Thursday. What is your view of the situation out there?”

“Well Peter, the aircraft has clearly disappeared and must have gone into the sea somewhere. You know that this is the second loss of a WAA European Aerospace 412. We believe that the crew had some sort of system failure on the flight deck and that they had not been adequately trained to recognise the problem. We shall need a lot of convincing before we pay out. I shall be looking very carefully at their crew records.”

“When are you going out?”

“I’m going out to New York this evening and will be in St. Antony to-morrow evening. We obviously rely on the AAIB to find the primary cause of the accident. The first one was clearly pilot error and I suspect the second one was as well, since they should have recognised the system failure.”

“You may be right, John, but it is very strange that the position reports showed the aircraft being on course for Bermuda but the aircraft wasn’t there. To put it more strongly, it’s simply impossible. I just can’t get my mind round the whole thing.” 

John reflected for a moment. 
“Peter you may not want to answer this but surely the crew should have spotted that there was a problem?”

“Yes, I suppose we are on opposite sides but, as I am sure you appreciate, I only want to find out what actually happened. If it’s pilot error, so be it. Anyway I can’t answer your question, John. However, there’s one obvious point. Have you considered that there could be something wrong with the aircraft, possibly a design fault?”

“That of course is always possible, but we have to rely on the certification authorities to validate the manufacturer’s design and so far there’s been no reason to doubt what has been done. The only new feature in the aircraft is the fibre optic cables to the control surface motors and we don’t believe there’s anything wrong there.”

“John, we clearly need to understand a lot more about what happened. Of course it’s bread and butter for the newspapers and the media to try to make everyone believe in the fantasy of the so called Bermuda Triangle. The whole thing seems mysterious, unbelievable, whatever word you like to use. The problem is that if we don’t get some wreckage I don’t believe we shall ever find out what happened. But of course finding wreckage won’t be enough. What we really need are the accident data recorders and if we don’t find them quickly then the chances of finding them become more and more remote. Bob Furness tells me he is getting their underwater search consultants to advise what is needed and when.”

John looked at me quizzically.

“Frank is hoping that you will solve the mystery and hopefully persuade us to pay him for the aircraft, I suppose?”

“Yes, John, in a way I am sure he is. He naturally wants to be sure that his interests are considered. However, let me reassure you again, if the accident could have been avoided by the pilots then I would be the first to say so. In my view, this accident clearly has some unique features for which the crew may not have been specifically trained. The challenge for us is to find out what must have gone wrong and then judge whether the crew should have spotted the trouble and taken corrective action.”

“Peter, I saw you in action at the RWA inquiry. I do understand your position otherwise I would not have invited you here. I’m more than happy to talk to you again if you feel inclined to keep in touch.”

We talked some more about the accident and then I left, promising to call him from St. Antony with an update in a week or so. It looked as if he would have left St. Antony by the time I got out there, though he told me that he expected to be back again a week or so later. I wandered back slowly to Waterloo and went home to my house at Kingston, stopping to buy some essential supplies on the way. Everywhere was tidy except in my dining room/office because Dora, my help, was never allowed in there. I decided that that must be my job for the evening. However, there were ten messages on the answering machine and in fact there probably had been more callers because the machine’s memory was full. It took me an hour dealing with them all. Most of the callers were in connection with the RWA accident and were still from the media, TV, newspapers, and magazines wanting interviews or articles. Articles I liked writing, but they always took me a lot longer to do than the editors expected and were willing to pay for. 
 I got myself a sandwich and started to sort out my office. The papers on the RWA accident needed filing and I had to start getting myself organised for the WAA investigation. I decided to call Kim Petersen in the South Eastern Region of the Federal Aviation Agency in Miami. We had met at one of the Society of Automotive Engineers S7 Flight Deck Committee meetings in Washington DC and I always kept a note of all attendees.

“Kim, Peter Talbert here. How are things with you?”

“Hello stranger. I’ve been reading all about you and the RWA accident inquiry. Congratulations. It seems you did a first class job. How can I help you? I take it you didn’t call me just to have a chat.”

“Quite right. It’s about the loss of the aircraft on a cargo flight from St. Antony to Bermuda last Friday.”

“You mean the European Aerospace 412? That’s a strange business. The aircraft seems to have disappeared in a tropical storm yet its positions relayed via the satellite showed that it was near Bermuda. Weird. The papers have been full of it over here for the last few days. You can imagine, another modern day Bermuda Triangle mystery. Every expert for miles around has been interviewed. They must have made a fortune. Would you believe, they even had the head of the National Transportation Safety Board on the Larry King Live show even though the aircraft was not on the US register. They also had someone from your Air Accident Investigation Branch; they are doing the investigation, I believe. Anyway why are you interested?”

 “Well, Frank Westbourne the managing director of the airline has asked me to help him to look after their interests during the investigation. I’m going to fly out on Wednesday but I thought it might be useful to call in at New York Center on the way out just to talk to the Oceanic controllers and hear their story. However, I don’t know anyone there, so I’m asking for your help.”

“I’ll see what I can do. I know you realise that though the Air Traffic Centers are part of the Federal Aviation Agency, they’re really a different firm. It’s the same situation as you used to have in the UK when your National Air Traffic Services was part of the Civil Aviation Agency but were completely separate from your Safety Regulation Group. Of course you people have now, very sensibly, made NATS a separate entity though I’m not sure whether letting EASA, instead of SRG, certificate your new aircraft is such a good idea. 

“Anyway I need to call a few people and find out who you need to talk to. Give me your phone number and email address and I’ll try to get something to you before the end of our working day over here. I expect you want to be making some airline reservations.”

“Absolutely right. By the way you said just now that the aircraft was lost in a tropical storm. Is that confirmed or just conjecture?”

“Just an educated guess Peter. We think he must have gone off on the wrong heading. Maybe he put the wrong waypoints in to the Flight Management Systems. Certainly from the weather he reported he must have been in Angela, there were no other storms about.”

“Well I suppose you’re right but I’m not convinced it was an elementary mistake. It’s not possible to go 25( off course without noticing, particularly as the aircraft was giving position reports by satellite to New York Oceanic using ADS. Anyway thanks so much Kim. I’ll wait to hear from you.”

The phone rang the moment we had finished. It was Mandy.

“I’m just leaving the office. How are things with you? I gather you’ve got a secretarial agency.”

“Yes. Thanks to Mike I managed to get organised quite quickly though I suppose I should have got you to go through the agreement before signing.”

“Possibly, Peter. Luckily these agreements are pretty standard so it should be alright. If the people and the office looked normal with plenty of people about, the chances are that you are not going to be ripped off. Did you talk to Bob Furness? How was he?”

“He was very fair and very helpful. I think he told me all he knew.”

“Did you talk to the insurers?”

“Yes. That worked out quite well though, of course, the accident is a complete mystery. He invited me round for a chat. Hull Claims feels that the pilots should have spotted that something was going wrong and that it was bad training, bearing in mind that they had a pilot error accident in St. Antony not very long back. They are not about to pay out in a hurry. Their guy John Southern is going to New York to-night and will be in St. Antony to-morrow.”

“What are you going to do? Shouldn’t you be there before him?”
“Yes you’re right. But it’s impossible as you know.” She had a good point but there was nothing I could do about it. I would be able to look at the documents and training later in the week. “Anyway, I’m trying to visit the FAA ATC Oceanic Control Center in New York on the way out to hear their side of the story. I want to see the whole flight if they have the records. It seems so strange. Southern has too narrow a focus.”

“Well you can explain it to me when we meet. When is that going to be, my darling?”

 “I’m not sure. I’m trying to go on Wednesday but I can’t make any reservations until I hear from my man in Miami. I certainly won’t go before then. What are you doing to‑morrow night?” There was a pause. “Surely you’re diary’s not that full?”

“Well I’m going out to dinner in London, possibly going to see a show, with a very handsome man and if he behaves himself, and especially if he doesn’t, I might agree to stay the night with him.”

“That’s a shame because I was going to suggest an early dinner at Rules and then go and see the latest Lloyd Webber musical. I’ll just have to find someone else.”

Rules in Maiden Lane was one of my favourite restaurants, convenient for the London theatres, and was rapidly becoming one of Mandy’s favourites as well. 

“Well, if you were to press me I might be tempted and forego going out with the handsome man.”

“I don’t want to deprive you of your romantic evening.”

“You’ve talked me into it. But it is going to be tight. What time do we have to be at Rules for their special deal?”

“We have to order by six o’clock. If you tell me what you are going to have right now, I can order for you if you’re late.”

“You can make the decisions for me, haddock soufflé and rack of lamb well cooked.”

“That’s really strange. That’s just what I was going to order for you.”

“You can always read my mind if I want you to.” She came back to earth. “What are you going to do to‑morrow?”

“I’m not sure. Hopefully I will be able to sort out my flights in the afternoon. I’ll catch up with some reports I have to write and possibly find time for some reading.. There’s a pile of periodicals two feet high which I must look at.”

“Alright my love. I’ll see you to-morrow. Bye.”

It was only half past seven. I called the booking agency straightaway and booked a box. I had never done that before but then I had never had so much money in my bank account. I knew I needed to get some advice fairly soon on what to do with it. I called Rules and made a reservation. It was touch and go apparently, but they fitted us in. I did a bit of filing and then took some magazines into the front room to make a start with the reading. After about an hour Kim Petersen came on the line.

“Peter, I’ve made some progress. You need to ring the supervisor at New York Center and explain what you want. New York Oceanic is co-located with New York Center at Ronkonkoma on Long Island. Oceanic have got a room on the side of the main building apparently. I’ve had a word with him and told him a little about you. His name is Jack Maynes. There shouldn’t be too much of a problem getting what you want as they made up a special tape from their records immediately after the accident occurred. Jack just needs to be assured that you have a genuine need to look at the data.”

Kim gave me Jack Maynes telephone number. I thanked him and then called the number. Jack Maynes answered the phone himself and I introduced myself.

“Well Peter, Kim Petersen told me about you but I’m not quite clear why you are so interested.”

“I’ve been retained by West Atlantic Airways to help them find the cause of the loss of their European Aerospace 412, tail number VP-WAL. There is a problem over the insurance and they want to do everything they can to find out what went wrong. As you will appreciate, the accident seems remarkable to say the least and I would find it very helpful before going to St. Antony to see the aircraft’s track according to the ADS reports.”

“Fine Peter, I now know exactly what you want. Kim tells me you are planning on travelling Wednesday. Do you want to come in when you arrive or the following morning?”

“Well I would like to try to catch up with what is going on as soon as possible. Could I come in about 5 o’clock? Where exactly are you located? Will it take a long time to get there?”

“You know Peter, the traffic about then is horrendous. By the time you have got through immigration, collected your bags, been taken by bus to the rental compound, signed up for a rental car, found it, left the car park and got lost a couple of times, you are going to hit the rush hour traffic. I think you should plan on staying the night somewhere near our Center and come out at 8 o’clock in the morning.” There was a pause. “Hey, I tell you what I’ll do. I’ll book you in at the Embassy Apartments near our place and meet you there at about 6.30 and we can go out for a meal. You should make 6.30 alright. Give me your email address and I’ll confirm the reservation and location of the hotel. In case there is a problem I’ll give you my home and mobile numbers and also my email address.”

We exchanged details and I called British Airways. I booked on the flight that left 11 o’clock getting in to New York at 1 o’clock in the afternoon. The following day, Thursday, there was a non-stop British West Indian Airline flight out of New York in the afternoon at 2.15 scheduled to arrive in St. Antony that evening at 6.15 and I settled for that. I called Frank Westbourne and told him what I was doing and gave him my ETA. 
“I’ll make your hotel reservations and confirm them to you by email. I’ll meet you off the plane and take you to the hotel. You can decide later whether you are brave enough to drive yourself in St. Antony. By the way there’s still no news of any wreckage. I’d have thought we would have had some by now. Do you think you’ll learn anything in New York?”

“I just don’t know but it’s something that has to be done. Are the AAIB planning to visit New York to have a look, do you know Frank?”

“I’m not sure. Shall I ask them?”

“No, leave it for a bit. This guy has agreed to show me everything. If AAIB want to join in it may suddenly get very formal. Looking forward to seeing you then on Thursday evening.”

There was not much more I could do. Luckily I remembered that I had agreed with Steve Watson of United to do some training in Denver on the Independant 798. He was in his office when I called him and I explained the situation; we agreed that I would be with him the following Friday. I reckoned that by then I would be well and truly started in St. Antony and I could return there after I had been to United. I finished tidying up my room, watched the 10.30 news on Channel 2 and went to bed. I thought of Mandy, presumably in bed in Bournemouth, of Liz, the girl in Australia who helped me solve the 798 accident and Diana, somewhere in the States. Life was always full of choices and, for better or for worse, we were always responsible for the logical consequences of the choices we made.

***

Tuesday morning was a fine clear day and about 15°C, a wonderful late spring day. Dora came on Tuesdays and Wednesdays, and she was full of the Inquiry and the part I had played. She was a regular at the Fox and Hounds near where she lived in Surbiton and there was clearly a flourishing debating society there. Dora at the moment must be taking a leading part as a vicarious reporter of front page news. I tried to stop her conversation and get her working but it wasn’t easy and took the best part of twenty minutes. I didn’t want to upset her since she did such a super job when I wasn’t there.

I went to the shops briefly and bought a few things for Mandy’s breakfast the following morning. I called Mike to find out where to get some financial advice but his secretary told me he had had to go out to the airport and would not be in until the afternoon. I got out the recent issues of Flight and Aviation Week. The 412 accident had happened after the magazines had gone to press but there was plenty about the RWA Accident Inquiry final report. My name appeared in the headlines together with some old photos.

I got out the papers that might be needed in St. Antony. There was an article about the electronics on the European Aerospace 412 which I wanted to re-read in detail on the flight out to New York. It was a very modern design but not in anyway unusual. The Flight Management System used twin Flight Management Computers for controlling the auto-pilot and the pilots’ displays using the information supplied by triple inertial laser platforms and two satellite receivers, one for the United States Global Positioning System, GPS, and one for the European satellite system, Galileo European Satellite System, GESS. The FMS had the necessary software to enable automatic satellite position reporting. Typically European in design as well as in name, it had side stick controllers for the pilots but, unlike Airbus aircraft, the throttles moved under auto-throttle control, which most Airbus engineers privately admitted was much better and safer than having them fixed when the automatics changed the engine settings.

The day seemed to race by writing reports, reading and tidying up; Mandy was going to be very pleased with my office. By the time I had finished it was time to go and meet her. Everything was put away with no papers lying about. In addition I had got all my clothes ready for my trip. It would be hot in St. Antony, cold in Denver, temperate in New York, and wet in Bermuda. This meant that unfortunately it was going to be necessary to take a larger case than I really wanted, to be able to accommodate all the clothes I needed for the different weather conditions. 
I decided to leave the car in the road near Kingston station and was soon at Waterloo. There was enough time to take a cab to Foyles in Charing Cross Road and look at the books about the Bermuda Triangle. They all looked pretty specious to me but I managed to find one that brought some critical analysis to the proceedings. I still had enough time to walk to Rules though I was glad of my coat and gloves. As I went down Long Acre I spotted Stanfords, the map people, and on impulse went in to see if they had the topographical charts I wanted. Ten minutes later I left with the ten ONC charts I needed and a receipt for nearly £100 to show to Frank. I used my mobile and left a message at my office that I had got the maps. It was twenty minutes to six and I went straight to the table. I chose a good bottle of Australian Chardonnay and ordered our meal. Mandy appeared in a warm looking royal blue jersey dress just before six. She had been working hard and started to relax. The meal was excellent and timed to perfection.

Our coats were produced as if by magic and we walked to the theatre, arriving with fifteen minutes to spare, time enough to check in our coats, my maps and Mandy’s overnight bag in the cloakroom. She nearly took-off when she realised that we were going to be in a private box by ourselves. It didn’t do any harm either when she saw the champagne on ice in its stand with two glasses on a table, and a spray of red roses on one of the seats. She made it very plain throughout the evening that she liked being spoilt. I clearly had got something right. The musical was super and we left to go home on an emotional and sexual high. We got a cab to the station and I mentally congratulated myself on having decided to use the car at the other end and not walk. Mandy made driving even harder by doing things which I rather liked but I wasn’t sure her mother would approve of. We managed to get home and, after a very short discussion, decided that we would retire to bed. Later, as I was lying next to her and starting to go to sleep Mandy whispered my name.

“When am I going to see you again?”

“When you turn the light on. We’ve got the whole night ahead of us.”

“Only for sleeping. You’re not much company now that you’ve had your way with me.”

“I didn’t notice you holding back.”

“Nice men don’t mention these things.” She wriggled next to me and I shelved my sleeping plans for a few seconds. 
 “Peter, you never answered my question, when do I see you next?”

 “Well I suppose I could be back at the end of next week but the whole thing is very difficult to call. I can’t contemplate coming home until I’ve got some idea of what happened. The moment there is any glimmer of light I’ll call you.”

All was quiet for a few seconds.

“Alright, you win, we’d better get some sleep. I’ve got to work in the morning instead of lounging in luxury in an aircraft being waited on by glamorous stewardesses.”

“I always get the stewards.”

“Don’t give me that. I remember that girl who drooled over you all the way back from Seattle.”

That was the problem with lawyers, they had such good memories.

� A Flight Too Far
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